9-15

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 31 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,715

DANIEL TERENCE SAVOURY
Petitioner

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA
Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DANIEL T. SAVOURY
DC# 237288
Desoto Correctional Insti.
P.O. Drawer 1072
Arcadia, Florida 33821

Assisted by Paralegal
Julian Lawrence Marcus
Chief - Wash., D.C.

Elizabeth January, Assoc.
Criminal Law Division
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida

9-15

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 31 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner was charged with several criminal violations of Florida Statute in the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida. (App. pg. 3)

The Petitioner was convicted and sentenced under s. 775.084 (amended) (1989). (App. pg. 4-7). The trial court imposed said sentence under the statute and exceeding the sentencing guidelines.¹

The Petitioner subsequently filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence pursuant to Rule 3.800(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedures, in the trial court alleging the claim that s. 775.084 violated the single-subject rule of the Florida Constitution, Article III, section 6, and therefore due process and equal protection of the law. (App. 1)

The trial court denied the Motion and the Petitioner filed his timely appeal to the District Court of Appeal for the Second District. (see App. pg.).

¹ District Court of Appeal issued its opinion

¹ The trial court, Honorable Richard Luce, sentenced the Petitioner on August 13, 1990, to thirty (30) years under the Habitual Offender Statute, i.e., s. 775.084 (1989) (amended) for the charges of Sales and Possession of Cocaine pursuant to Florida Statutes, and exceeded the guidelines as a departure based on the habitual offender sentencing statute as amended in 1989. It would also appear that the Petitioner would have a claim under this court's decision of Whitehead v. State, (cite omitted). But that issue is not present before the court at this time.

affirming the decision of the trial court by citing the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in McCall v. State, (cite omitted) (see App pg.) and therefore holding that section 775.084 had not violate the single subject rule of Article III, section 6, Florida Constitution. The Petitioner then filed his Notice of Discretionary Review in this Court of the decision of the Second District Court on the basis of conflict of decisions between district court of appeals and the granting of review in McCall, *supra* , by this court.

This brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is the position of the Petitioner that s.775.084., F.S., violates the single-subject rule of Article III, Section 6., Florida Constitution.

The First District Court of Appeal in Johnson v. State, 589 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) holds that the statute in question here does violate the applicable law under Burch v. State, (cite omitted) and therefore unconstitutional.

The Petitioner submits that the statute in question violates the single-subject rule of the Florida Constitution and the due process clause of the Florida and United States Constitution.

ISSUE::

THAT FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 775.084 (AMENDED 1989) VIOLATES THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.....

The Second District Court's decision in Savoury v. State, ___So.2d___ (17 FLW) (Fla. 2nd DCA April __, 1992), clearly and expressly held that s.775.084., Florida Statute, (amended 1989) does not violate the single-subject rule of Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution.

The defendant submits that his sentence is illegal and therefore subject to collateral attack due to the basis that said statute, i.e., s.775.084 F.S., violates the single subject rule of the Florida Constitution.

The defendants sentence was imposed after the October 1, 1989 effective date of section 775.084., Florida Statutes, (1989). Chapter 89-280., Laws of Florida. Defendant was sentenced to a term of years in the Department of Corrections as to the count involved in this case pursuant to the Statute.

Defendant contends that section 775.084., Florida Statutes, Chapter 89-280., Laws of Florida violates the one subject rule of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida

Constitution, which provides:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title. No law shall be revised or amended by reference to its title only. Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, section, subsection or paragraph of a subsection. The enacting clause of every law shall read: "Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida".

Chapter 89-280 embraces two subjects: habitual felony offenders and the repossession of motor vehicles. The first three sections of Chapter 89-280 amended Section 775.084 (habitual offender statutes), 775.0842 (career criminal statute), and 775.0843 (policies for career criminals), Florida Statutes, section four of Chapter 89-280 created section 493.30(16), Florida Statutes, defining "repossession"². Section five amended section 492.306(6), adding license requirements of repossessors. Section six created section 493.317(7) and (8) prohibiting repossessors from failing to remit money or deliver negotiable instruments. Section seven created section 493.3175,

²Section 493.30(16) states: "repossession" is the legal recovery of a motor vehicle or motorboat as authorized by the legal owner, lienholder, or lessor to recover, or to collect money payment in lieu of recovery of, that which has been sold or leased under a security agreement that contains a repossession clause. A repossession is complete when a licensed repossessor is in control, custody, and possession of such motor vehicle.

regarding the sale of property by reposessor. Section eight amended section 493.318(2), requiring reposessors to prepare and maintain inventory . Section ten created section 493.3176, requiring certain information be displayed on vehicles used by reposessors.

In State v. Burch, 558 So.2d 11, 2, (Fla. 1990), the Florida Supreme Court quoted as follows from State v. Thompson, 163 So.2d 270 (1935):

Where duplicity of subject-matter is contained for as violative of Section 6 of Article III of the Constitution relating to and requiring but one subject to be embraced in a single legislative bill the test of duplicity of subject is whether or not the provisions of the bill are designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort.

The Burch court also quoted from Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981):

[T]he subject of an act "may be as broad as the Legislature chooses as long as the matters included in the act have natural or logical connections"

State v. Burch, 558 So.2d at 2.
Defendant submits that there is no "natural or logical connections" between recidivits reposessors of cars and boats. Half of Chapter 89-280 addresses the prosecution and sentencing of recidivits, while the other half addresses the regulation of a lawful occupation. It is therefore clear

that the law is "designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort" as prohibited by Burch and Thompson.

In Burch this Florida Supreme Court upheld Chapter 243. In doing so, however, the Burch court distinguished Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984), as follows:

In Bunnell, this court addressed Chapter 82-150., Laws of Florida, which contained two separate topics: "the creation of a statute prohibiting the obstruction of justice by false information and the reduction in the membership of the Florida Criminal Justice Council. The relationship between these two subjects was so tenuous that this court concluded that the single-subject provision of the constitution had been violated. Unlike Bunnell, Chapter 87-243 is a comprehensive law in which all of its parts are directed toward meeting the crisis of increased crime.

State v. Burch, 558 So.2d at 3.

Like the law in Bunnell, Chapter 89-280 is a two-subject law: it is not a comprehensive one. The relationship between recidivists and repossessors of cars and boats is even more tenuous than the relationship between the obstruction of justice by providing false information and reduction in the membership of the Florida Criminal Justice Council. Accordingly, the inescapable conclusion is that Chapter 89-280 violates the one-subject rule and is

unconstitutional³

³A facially unconstitutional statute may be challenged for the first time on appeal and by collateral attack. Cf. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983); Potts v. State, 526 So.2d 104, 105 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) and Trushin, progeny. The Florida First District Court of Appeal has already declared the statute unconstitutional in Johnson v. State, which is now certified to the 4th Florida Supreme Court as a question of great public importance regarding the violation of the single-subject rule of the Florida Constitution.

Section A.

THE STATUTE IS FACILLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL
BECAUSE IT PENALIZES DEFENDANTS FOR THEIR
STATUS AS HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS.

Section 775.084 (4) (e), Florida Statutes, penalizes defendants for their status of being habitual offenders and is therefore facially unconstitutional. Fifth, Eighth Amendments of the United States Constitution; Article I Sec. 9 and 17, Florida Constitution. It is well-settled that one may not be penalized for one's status. Pott v. State, 526 So. 2d 114 (1a, 11th Cir) (cannot be penalized for status of being under indictment); L.S. v. State, 553 So. 2d 345 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (cannot punish for status of merely being arrested); Robinson v. California, 379 U.S. 554, 82 S.Ct. 11417, 8 L.Ed.2d 768 (1962) (cannot penalize for status of being a narcotic addict.).

Section 775.084 (4) (e), which provides for the deprivation of gain-time and parole for those classified as habitual offenders, reads as follows:

(e) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be subject to the provisions of s.921.001. The provisions of Chapter 947 shall not be applied to such person. A defendant sentenced under this section shall not be eligible for gain-time by the Department of Corrections, except that the department may grant up to 20 days of incentive gain-time each month as provided

for ins. 944.27(4) (b).

Subsection (e) eliminates the provision of Sections 921.001 Florida Statutes, from the sentence imposed under the habitual offender statute. Since this part of the provision is applied to the habitual offender sentence, rather than being applied to the person, this limitation is constitutionally sound. However, subsection (e) also provides that a defendant is not eligible for provision of Chapter 947. Thus the defendant and not merely the sentence, is penalized for the status of being an habitual offender. In other words, if the defendant was serving a sentence other than the one being enhanced, subsection (e) would eliminate gain time from the defendant, thus precluding gain time from being applied to the other sentence. The detriment cause by subsection (e) as it relates to the Defendants status as an habitual offender is unconstitutional.

As explained in Yacer v. State, 47 Fl. 2d 454 Ind. 1962), Punishment for status, of being an habitual offender is a violation of both the double jeopardy clause and the Eighth Amendment: "The judge in this case made the same technical error we have seen recurring in several cases recently, in that he treated the habitual criminal charge as

a separate charge and sentenced for thirty years for the charge. As we have previously stated, one convicted of a crime and found to be an habitual criminal is not sentenced separately for being an habitual criminal. Under the statute the defendant receives an additional thirty years for the instant crime because he has been found to be an habitual criminal. It is imperative to understand the deference. If the status of being an habitual criminal were to be considered a separate crime, conviction would be unconstitutional as double jeopardy. When status permits enhancement of the penalty for the instant crime no such impairment exists. To punish for the status of habitual criminal would also violate the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Funk v. State, (1981) Ind., 427 N.E.2d 1081. The trial court therefore erred in assessing a separate sentence of thirty years as an habitual offender. The thirty years provided by the statute should be an enhancement of one of the instant felonies." 437 N.E.2d 457 (emphasis added). As can be seen, the status of being an habitual offender was given effect separate from the "instant crime" in Yager and was therefore unconstitutional. Id.

Likewise, subsection (e), by eliminating gain-time and

parole consideration from the defendant, as opposed to the habitual offender sentence, gives the habitual offender status effect separate from the instant crime and is therefore unconstitutional.

Section B.

THE STATUTE IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Section 775.084 (1) (a) (3-4), Florida Statute, specifically excludes prior felonies which have either been set aside in post conviction proceedings or pardoned from consideration in habitual offender determination. Since no other exceptions are listed, there are no other exceptions. Thayer v. State, 355 So.2d 814 (Fla. 1976) (expressio unius, est exclusio alterius).