WOOA

FILED

OCT 5 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY Chief Deputy Clerk

DANIEL TERRENCE SAVOURY,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 79,715

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PEGGY QUINCE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0261041

DAVIS G. ANDERSON, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 160260
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/srr

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent can give no statement of the case and facts as respondent has no record with which to work. Below this was, apparently, an appeal from a summary Rule 3.850 denial.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As to Issue I: The court should not consider appellan 's attack on the validity of the statute **as** it was an issue that could have been raised on direct appeal.

The concerns that prompted the single subject rule are not implicated by the bill that created the revised habitual offender statute. The provision relating to repossession of automobile is of criminal significance and was properly included with the statute that is now subject to question.

As to Issue 11: The habitual offender statute punished for conduct not status. In <u>California v. Robinson</u>, the Court was careful to distinguish between the two. It has no application to this statute. The other cases relied on by the appellant are likewise distinguishable.

As to Issue III: The statute does not run the risk of enhancement being premised on uncounseled convictions. The case law is clear that the offender must be given the opportunity to show this to the sentencing court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER CHAPTER 89-280, LAWS OF FLORIDA VIOLATED THE SINGLE SUBJECT PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

(As restated by respondent)

Appellant contends that the chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida amending the habitual offender statute is unconstitutional on the ground that it violates the single subject rule of the constitution. Appellant also makes other constitutional attacks as well. Aside from the fact that these attacks are without merit, this court should not consider them. The facial validity of a statute is one of those issues that can be raised on direct appeal regardless of whether it was presented to the trial court. Thrushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983). Because it is a matter that could have been raised on direct appeal and was not it has been procedurally defaulted. E.g., Thomas v. State, 486 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1986).

Although the merits should not be reached, **the** State will address the issue. To withstand an attack alleging the inclusion of more than one subject, various topics within a legislative enactment must be "properly connected." Art. 111, g6, Fla. Const. This term has been addressed many times, most recently in Burch v. State, 558 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1990). In upholding a broad criminal statute, this Court found that each of the "three basic areas" addressed by Ch. **87-243**, Laws of Florida, **bore** a "logical"

The three areas were: (1) comprehensive criminal regulations and procedures, (2) money laundering, and (3) safe neighborhoods. *Id.* at 3.

relationship to the single subject of controlling crime. $^{"}$ Id , at 3 .

Chapter 89-280 contains **two** basic areas: (1) policies and penalties as to career criminals and habitual felons; **and** (2) repossession of motor vehicles. Both relate to controlling crime. They are properly connected and do not violate Art. 111, §6 of the Florida Constitution.

Elaboration is useful. Article III, §6 has long been extant in Florida's constitutions.² It is "designed to prevent various abuses commonly encountered in the way laws were passed . . . [such as] logrolling, which resulted in hodgepodge or omnibus legislation." Williams v. State, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA), dismissed, 458 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1984). See, Burch, supra at 2 (noting that the purpose of Art. 111, §6 is to prevent duplicity of legislation and to prevent a single enactment from becoming a cloak for dissimilar legislation).

At the outset, the problems of logrolling are not so compelling or frequent in criminal legislation. To the contrary, the fact that Ch. 87-243 was designed to be a comprehensive response to burgeoning drug crime led the <u>Burch</u> court to uphold that act. See id. at 3 (simply because "several <u>different</u> [e.s.] statutes are amended does not mean that one subject is involved").

See, the Commentary to Art. 111, §6, noting that the 1968 version is "close in substance to Sections 15 and 16 of Art. III of the 1885 Constitution." 25A Fla. Stat. Annon. 656 (1991 ed.)

The repossession provisions of Ch. 89-280 amend Part I of Ch. 493, Florida Statutes. That part, entitled "Investigative and Patrol Services," addresses private conduct (i.e., investigative and security services) normally provided by law enforcement officers.

The changes in the second basic area of Ch. 89-280 were necessitated by problems with repossession conducted by private individuals. The problems **rose** to criminal significance, as violations of Part I of Chapter 493 are first-degree misdemeanors. See, §493,321, Fla. Stat. (1989).

Chapter 493, Part I, is also designed to protect the public against abuse by repossessors, etc., and provides criminal penalties. The habitual felon statute is also designed to protect the public against repeat felons.

This Court has consistently held that the Legislature must be accorded wide latitude in the enactment of laws. Therefore, Art. 111, §6 of the Florida Constitution must not be used to deter or impede legislation by requiring laws to be unnecessarily restrictive in their scope and operation. State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978). See, Smith v. City of St.

Chapter 493 was repealed, reenacted and renumbered by ch, 90-364, Laws of Florida. For convenience, all cites to Ch. 493 are to the 1989 version, thus corresponding to the statutory section numbers in ch. 89-280.

Part I also addresses investigative and patrol issues, and detection of deception. For: example, §493.30(4) defines "private investigation" to include, among other activities, the obtaining of information relating to certain crimes; the location and recovery of stolen property; the cause, origin, or responsibility for fires, etc.; and the securing of evidence for use in criminal (and civil) trials. These duties are quasi-law enforcement in nature.

<u>Petersburg</u>, **302 So.2d 756, 758 (Fla. 1974)** "For a legislative enactment to fail, the conflict between it and the Constitution must be palpable.").

In Bunnell v. State, 459 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984), this Court invalidated §1, Ch. 82-150, Laws of Florida, as having "no cogent relationship" (id. at 809) with the remainder of that act. Specifically, the subject law reduced membership of the Florida Criminal Justice Council, and created the criminal offense of obstructing justice through false information. Chapter 89-280, in contrast, includes no such disparity. There is a cogent relationship between its habitual or career felon provisions and its repossession provisions. Both respond to frequent incidence of criminal activity; both seek to deter repeat offenses. Both seek to protect the public. Repossessors and investigators, although private individuals, are performing the guasi-law enforcement duties. The parts of Ch. 89-280 are sufficiently related to survive a two-subject challenge, even though Ch. 89-280 is not a comprehensive crime bill like the one upheld in Burch, supra. Chapter 89-280 contains but one subject.

ISSUE II

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(4)(e), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991) IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS PUNISHING A PERSON BASED ON HIS OR HER STATUS?

(As restated by respondent)

Appellant contends that the habitual offender statute punishes him for his status. He relies on Robinson v.

California, 370 U.S. 660, 82 L.Ed.2d 1417, 8 L.Ed.2d 758 (1962) and certain state cases. Neither Robinson nor the state cases he cites compel a finding that appellant is being punished for his status.

The short answer is that he is being punished for his offense not his status. The Fourth District summarily rejected a similar challenge in Mitchell v. State, 575 So.2d 798 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). This court should do likewise. It is not violation of the constitution to make punishment for recidivist more sever. Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984).

The kind of status that can not be criminalized was set out in <u>Robinson</u>. It held that California could **not criminalize** a person's simply being addicted to narcotics. In addressing the statute in question the Supreme Court was careful to distinguish between acts and status. <u>Robinson</u>, 370 U.S. at 662. This distinction is crucial. It is a offender's act, criminal offense, that is being punished in light of his previous acts, criminal offenses.

Neither L.S. v. State, 553 So.2d 345 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) nor Potts v. State, 526 So.2d 104 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) require a different result. L.S. is simply an application of the principle

that a revocation of probation can not be based on a simple arrest. Potts held a statue making the penalty for carrying a concealed firearm more sever for a person under indictment.

Neither case is authority for finding the being a habitual felony affender a the kind of status that can not be criminalized.

ISSUE III

WHETHER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991) IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 9, OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

(A3 restated by respondent)

Appellant contends that section 775.084 denies him due process of law. The specific contention is that it could condone the use of unconstitutional convictions. The truth of the matter is that it specifically excludes pardoned or improperly secured convictions from consideration.

Sections 775.084(1)(a) 3 and 4 specifically provide that the court find the "qualified offense" not have been pardoned or set aside in any post-conviction proceeding. The appellant's concern that an unconstitutionally obtained conviction might be used is not worth any consideration by this court. It is the offender that is in the best position to know if a conviction is subject to collateral attack. That he or she has not successfully collaterally attacked a conviction is reason enough for it to be considered. Appellant's concern about uncounseled convictions being used was addressed in <u>Broderick v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 622 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). Broderick ruled that a defendant must be given the right at sentencing to show that he did not have counsel for convictions for which he ok she had a right to counsel and did not waive it. Appellant's concern that a uncounseled conviction might be used as a basis for a habitual offender sentence is illusory.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE Respondent asks the court to affirm the decision of **the** district court on the basis of the above and foregoing reasons, arguments, and authorities.